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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

)

v.

)

TRADEBE TREATMENT AND
RECYCLING NORTHEAST,LLC,
Defendant.

)

Civil No.

3:18-cv-2031

)
)
)

COMPLAINT
The United States of America, by authority ofthe Attorney General, through the
undersigned attorneys, acting at the request ofthe Administrator ofthe United States
Environmental Protection Agency("EPA"), alleges as follows:
I. NATURE OF ACTION
This is a civil action under Section 113(b) ofthe Clean Air Act("CAA"),
42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), and Section 3008(a) of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
("RCRA"),42 U.S.C. § 6928(a). The United States seeks civil penalties and injunctive relief
against Tradebe Treatment and Recycling Northeast, LLC ("Tradebe Northeast" or "Defendant")
for violations of Section 112 of the CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7412; of Sections 502(a) and 503(c) of the
CAA,42 U.S.C. §§ 7661a(a) and 7661b(c); of RCRA,42 U.S.C. §§ 6921 — 6929e; and offederal
and state regulations and permits issued or authorized thereunder.
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II. JURISDICTION,AUTHORITY AND VENUE
2.

This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action, and over

Defendant Tradebe Northeast, under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1345 and 1355; Section 113(b) ofthe
CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7413(b); and Section 3008(a) of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6928(a).
Authority to bring this action is vested in the United States Department of Justice
by 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519.
4.

Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391 and 1395; Section 113(b)

of the CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7413(b); and Section 3008(a) of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6928(a) because
Defendant is a corporation operating in Connecticut at facilities in the cities of Meriden and
Bridgeport, and the violations occurred in this District.
III. NOTICE
5.

The United States will provide or has provided notice of the commencement of

this action to the State of Connecticut under Section 113(b) ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7413(b),
and Section 3008(a)(2) of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(2).
IV. DEFENDANT
6.

Defendant Tradebe Northeast is a privately-held Delaware corporation with its

headquarters in Indiana. Tradebe Northeast is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tradebe
Environmental Services, LLC ("Tradebe Environmental"), aprivately-held Delaware
corporation.
7.

Tradebe Northeast owns and operates two hazardous and non-hazardous waste

treatment, storage and disposal facilities("TSDFs")in Connecticut, one located at 136 Gracey
Avenue in Meriden, Connecticut("Meriden Facility") and the other at 50 Cross Street in
Bridgeport, Connecticut("Bridgeport Facility").
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8.

Tradebe Northeast is a "person" within the meaning of Section 302(e) of the

CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7602(e); Section 1004(15) of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6903(15); 40 C.F.R. §
260.10; and the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies("RCSA")at RCSA §
22a-449(c)-100(c)(22).
V. CAA STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND
A. CAA NATIONAL EMISSIONS STANDARDS FOR HAZARDOUS AIR
POLLUTANTS FROM OFF-SITE WASTE AND RECOVERY OPERATIONS
9.

The CAA,42 U.S.C. §§ 7401 — 7671q, establishes a comprehensive scheme for

protecting and enhancing the quality of the nation's air so as to promote public health and
welfare. See Section 101(b)(1) of the CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7401(b)(1).
10.

Section 112(b) and(d)of the CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7412(b) and (d), lists various

hazardous air pollutants("HAPs")and requires EPA to establish national emissions standards for
major and area sources of HAPs. See Sections 112(b) and(d)ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. §§ 7412(b)
and (d).
11.

Under Section 112 ofthe CAA,EPA promulgated the National Emissions

Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants From Off-Site Waste and Recovery Operations at 40
C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart DD,§§ 63.680 - 63.698("CAA Subpart DD"). CAA Subpart DD
incorporates various general provisions and requirements contained in 40 C.F.R. Part 63,
Subpart A,§§ 63.1 - 63.16, which was also promulgated pursuant to Section 112 ofthe CAA.
B. CAA TITLE V OPERATING PERMIT PROGRAM
12.

Subchapter V ofthe CAA (referred to as "Title V"),42 U.S.C. §§

7661 - 7661f, establishes an operating permit program for various air pollution sources,
including all sources subject to standards or regulations under Section 112 ofthe CAA,to
consolidate all of a source's CAA requirements into one permit.
3
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13.

Under Section 502 ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7661a, EPA promulgated regulations

at 40 C.F.R. Part 70 to implement the Title V operating permit program. Under Section 502(d)
ofthe CAA and 40 C.F.R. § 70.4, states were required to submit their Title V permit programs
for EPA's approval. Connecticut's Title V permit program, which is set out in RCSA §
22a-174-33, received final approval from EPA in May 2002. See 67 Fed. Reg. 31966(May 13,
2002).
14.

Pursuant to Section 113(b) ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7613(b), the United States

may enforce the CAA,including requirements contained in Title V permits, by commencing a
civil action for appropriate relief, including injunctions.
C. CAA CIVIL PENALTIES
15.

Section 113(b) of the CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7413(b), authorizes the United States to

seek civil penalties of up to $25,000 per day for each violation of any requirement or prohibition
of Subchapter I ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. §§ 7401-7515, and of regulations promulgated under
Subchapter I ofthe CAA,including CAA Subpart DD. Section 113(b) ofthe CAA also
authorizes the above-described penalties for violations of Subchapter V (Title V)ofthe CAA and
the regulations promulgated thereunder.
16.

Under the Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990, as amended through

2016("CPIAA"), and the CPIAA's implementing regulations set out at 40 C.F.R. Part 19,
violations of CAA-related requirements that occurred from January 13, 2009 through November
2,2015, are subject to penalties of up to $37,500 per day for each violation, while violations that
occur after November 2, 2015, are currently subject to penalties of up to $97,229. See 78 Fed.
Reg. 66643(Nov. 6, 2013) and 83 Fed. Reg. 1193 (Jan. 10, 2018).
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VI. RCRA STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND
A. RCRA REGULATIONS AND CONNECTICUT HAZARDOUS WASTE PROGRAM
17.

In 1976, Congress enacted RCRA in order to regulate hazardous waste

management. Since then, Congress has enacted various amendments to RCRA,including the
Hazardous and Solid Waste("HSWA")Amendments of 1984.
18.

RCRA establishes a comprehensive federal regulatory program for the

management of hazardous waste. See Sections 3001 - 3023 of RCRA,42 U.S.C. §§
6921 - 6939e. EPA promulgated regulations under RCRA that set forth standards and
requirements applicable to generators of hazardous waste and to owners and operators of
facilities that treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste. Those regulations are codified at 40
C.F.R. Parts 260 - 271.
19.

The HSWA Amendments of 1984 enacted various new provisions in Section

3004 of RCRA,including Section 3004(n),42 U.S.C. § 6921(n), that required EPA to
promulgate air emission control regulations for TSDFs. EPA promulgated those regulations at
40 C.F.R. Part 264, Subparts AA,BB and CC("RCRA Subpart AA,BB and CC regulations")
20.

Pursuant to Section 3006 of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6926, EPA may authorize a state

to administer the RCRA hazardous waste program in lieu of the federal program when EPA
deems the state program to be equivalent to the federal program.
21.

On December 31, 1990, EPA granted the State of Connecticut final authorization

to administer its base hazardous waste program. See 55 Fed. Reg. 51707(December 17, 1990).
On September 28,2004, EPA granted Connecticut final authorization for additional RCRA
requirements and regulations, including HSWA requirements set out in RCRA Subparts AA,BB
and CC. See 69 Fed. Reg. 57842(September 28, 2004).
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22.

The Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection("CT

DEEP"),formerly the Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection, administers the
Connecticut hazardous waste program through hazardous waste management regulations set out
at RCSA Title 22a, §§ 22a-449(c)-1 through 22a-449(c)-119. Connecticut's hazardous waste
regulations contain EPA-authorized hazardous waste regulations, including HSWA-related
regulations and hazardous waste facility permitting requirements, together with certain nonfederally-authorized regulations and requirements. Many of Connecticut's hazardous waste
regulations incorporate federal hazardous waste regulations by reference, including RCRA
Subparts AA,BB and CC.
23.

Section 3006 of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6926, provides that authorized state

hazardous waste programs are carried out under RCRA. Thus, a violation of a requirement of an
authorized state hazardous waste program is a violation of a requirement of RCRA. Under
Section 3008(a) of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), the United States may enforce violations of any
requirement of RCRA and its implementing regulations, including requirements ofthe
federally-authorized Connecticut hazardous waste program set out in Connecticut's hazardous
waste management regulations, and of any permits issued thereunder, by commencing a civil
action in federal district court for appropriate relief, including injunctions.
B. RCRA CIVIL PENALTIES
24.

Sections 3008(g)of RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6928(g), authorizes the United States to

seek civil penalties of up to $25,000 per day for each violation of any requirement of RCRA and
its implementing regulations and permits.
25.

Under the CPIAA and the CPIAA's implementing regulations set out at 40 C.F.R.

Part 19, violations of RCRA-related requirements that occurred from January 13, 2009 through
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November 2, 2015, are subject to penalties up to $37,500 per day for each violation, while
violations that occur after November 2, 2015, are currently subject to penalties up to $72,718.
See 78 Fed. Reg. 66643(Nov. 6,2013)and 83 Fed. Reg. 1193 (Jan. 10, 2018).
VII. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
26.

On or about April 8, 2011, Tradebe Environmental purchased United Oil

Recovery, Inc., which, upon information and belief, was the owner ofthe Meriden and
Bridgeport Facilities.
27.

In December 2012, Tradebe Northeast merged with United Oil Recovery, Inc.,

with Tradebe Northeast as the surviving corporation. On or about that same date, Tradebe
Northeast became the owner and/or operator ofthe Meriden and the Bridgeport Facilities.
28.

The Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities have TSDF permits issued by CT DEEP.

29.

The Meriden Facility's most recent TSDF permit("Meriden's TSDF Permit"),

captioned as a "Commercial Hazardous Waste and Used Oil Facility Permit," was issued on
September 18, 2012,for a period of five years. Defendant submitted a TSDF permit renewal
application for the Meriden Facility on March 15, 2017. As a result, Meriden's TSDF Permit
continues to apply until CT DEEP issues or denies a new TSDF permit for the Facility. See 40
C.F.R. § 270.51(d) and RCSA § 22a-449(c)-110(a)(1)(Q)(incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 270.51 by
reference).
30.

The Bridgeport Facility's most recent TSDF permit("Bridgeport's TSDF

Permit"), also captioned as a "Commercial Hazardous Waste and Used Oil Facility Permit," was
issued on September 28, 2011, for a period offive years. Defendant submitted a TSDF permit
renewal application for the Bridgeport Facility on April 1, 2016. As a result, Bridgeport's TSDF
Permit continues to apply until CT DEEP issues or denies a new TSDF permit for the Facility.
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See 40 C.F.R. § 270.51(d) and RCSA § 22a-449(c)-110(a)(1)(Q)(incorporating 40 C.F.R. §
270.51 by reference).
31.

EPA Region 1 conducted a RCRA compliance inspection of the Meriden Facility

on March 30 to Apri13, 2015.
32.

EPA Region 1 conducted a CAA compliance inspection ofthe Meriden Facility

on June 3, 2015, and conducted a CAA compliance inspection ofthe Bridgeport Facility on
September 2, 1015.
33.

EPA Region 1 issued Tradebe Environmental a CAA Notice of Violation

("NOV")on January 14, 2016. The CAA NOV alleged that both the Meriden and Bridgeport
Facilities violated CAA Subpart DD and CAA Title V permitting requirements. On the same
date, EPA Region 1 issued Tradebe Environmental a RCRA Notice of Potential Violation letter
regarding the Meriden Facility.
34.

CT DEEP performed RCRA inspections ofthe Bridgeport Facility on August 27

and 28, and September 10, 11, and 16, 2015. Based on those inspections, CT DEEP issued
Tradebe (through afacility-specific subsidiary corporation) a state Notice of Violation regarding
the Bridgeport Facility on November 25, 2015.
35.

On June 10, 2016, EPA Region 1 issued Tradebe Environmental a RCRA

Information Request regarding the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities under Section 3007 of
RCRA,42 U.S.C. § 6927. On the same date, EPA Region 1 issued Tradebe Environmental a
CAA Reporting and Monitoring Requirement regarding both Facilities pursuant to Section 114
ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7413. Tradebe Environmental provided responses to the RCRA
Information Request and CAA Reporting Requirement in July, August and September 2016.
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VIII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
A. CAA VIOLATIONS
1. CAA Subpart DD Violations
36.

CAA Subpart DD applies to the owner and/or operator of any facility, described

in CAA Subpart DD as a "plant site," if the facility is a "major source" of HAP emissions, is
regulated as a TSDF under RCRA regulations, and contains one or more "waste management
operations" that receive "off-site material" as those terms are defined by CAA Subpart DD. See
40 C.F.R. §§ 63.680(a)(1) and (a)(2).
37.

A "plant site" includes all contiguous or adjoining property that is under common

control including properties separated only by a road or other public right-of-way. See 40 C.F.R.
§ 63.681.
38.

Section 112(a)(1) ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7412(a)(1), defines the term "major

source" to include any "stationary source" that emits or has the potential to emit considering
control, in the aggregate, 10 tons per year or more of any HAP,or 25 tons per year or more of
any combination of HAPs. See also 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart A at 40 C.F.R. § 63.2.
39.

A "stationary source" includes any facility which emits or may emit any air

pollutant. See 40 C.F.R. § 63.2.
40.

"Potential to emit" is defined as "the maximum capacity of a stationary source to

emit a pollutant under its physical and operational design." See 40 C.F.R. § 63.2.
41.

"Waste management operations" are defined by CAA Subpart DD to include

off-site material management units used at a facility to manage off-site material. See 40 C.F.R. §
63.681.
42.

"Off-site management units" are defined by CAA Subpart DD to include tanks,

~~
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containers, oil-water separators, organic-water separators, or transfer systems used to manage
off-site material at a facility. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.681 and 63.680(c)(1).
43.

"Off-site material" as defined by CAA Subpart DD includes wastes, used oil, or

used solvents that are delivered or transferred to the facility (not produced or generated within
the plant site) and that contain one or more ofthe HAPs listed in CAA Subpart DD's Table 1.
See 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.680(b)(1)(i) - (iii).
44.

Beginning from no later than April 1, 2015,the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities

became major, stationary sources of HAPs,and operated as TSDFs under RCRA regulations
with waste management operations receiving off-site material containing one or more HAPs that
are listed in CAA Subpart DD's Table 1. Accordingly, the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities
became subject to CAA Subpart DD by no later than April 1, 2015, and remained subject to
CAA Subpart DD until the Facilities received and commenced compliance with the permits
described below in Paragraphs 46 and 47 below.
45.

At all times that the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities were subject to CAA

Subpart DD,the Facilities contained numerous tanks that were used to manage off-site material,
and that were subject to CAA Subpart DD's requirements for off-site material management units
and tanks set out at 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.683(b)(1)(i) and 63.685.
46.

On July 12, 2018, Tradebe submitted to CT DEEP separate applications for

registration under the General Permit to Limit Potential to Emit("GPLPE")for the Meriden and
Bridgeport Facilities. Connecticut's GPLPE has been approved by EPA under Section 112(1) of
the Clean Air Act. See 82 Fed. Reg. 18868, 18869(Apri124, 2017). On August 31, 2018, CT
DEEP issued separate approvals of registration under the GPLPE for the Meriden and Bridgeport
Facilities. The approvals are effective from August 31, 2018, until they expire on November 8,
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2020.
47.

Tradebe's GPLPE approvals limit the emissions of air pollutants from each

Facility during each and every consecutive 12 month period to less than 50% of aggregate actual
emissions or potential emissions (including fugitive emissions) of 10 tons or more per year of
any HAP,or 25 tons or more per year of any combination of HAPs.
First Claim for Relief: Failure to Meet Emission Control Standards for Tanks
48.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 47 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
49.

CAA Subpart DD contains air emission control standards for tanks at 40 C.F.R. §

63.685. These tank emission control standards include "Level 1" and "Leve12" controls, set out
at 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.685(c) and 63.684(d), respectively.
50.

CAA Subpart DD at 40 C.F.R. § 63.685(c)requires tanks using Level 1 controls

to comply either with specific controls under 40 C.F.R. Part 63, Subpart 00("CAA Subpart
00"), or with the generally more stringent Level 2 controls.
51.

CAA Subpart 00 contains standards for fixed rooftanks, and requires that a fixed

roof and its closure devices must be designed to form a continuous barrier over the entire surface
area of liquid in the tank. See 40 C.F.R. § 63.902(b)(1).
52.

CAA Subpart 00 further requires that a fixed roof must be installed so that there

are no visible cracks, holes, gaps or other open spaces between roof section joints or between the
roof edge and the tank wall. See 40 C.F.R. § 63.902(b)(2). Each opening in a fixed roof must be
either equipped with a closure device such that when the device is closed there are no visible
cracks, holes, gaps or open spaces in or around the device, or be connected to a closed-vent
system. See 40 C.F.R. § 63.902(b)(3).
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53.

At all times that the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities were subject to CAA

Subpart DD,each Facility contained numerous fixed rooftanks that were subject to CAA
Subpart DD's Level 1 tank control requirements, including the above-cited fixed roof tank
requirements from CAA Subpart 00.
54.

At various times while the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities were subject to

CAA Subpart DD,fixed rooftanks at each Facility that were subject to CAA Subpart DD's
Level 1 control requirements were open or had openings in their fixed roofs, including visible
cracks, holes or gaps in the roof or the closures devices thereon.
55.

Accordingly, Defendant has violated CAA Subpart DD's Level 1 tanks standards

at the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities.
Second Claim for Relief —Failure to Submit Notification of Comuliance Status Reports
56.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 55 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
57.

CAA Subpart DD requires an owner and operator of a CAA Subpart DD affected

source to submit notices and reports regarding CAA Subpart DD compliance, including a notice
ofcompliance status("NOCS report"). See 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.697(a)(1) and 63.9(h).
58.

Defendant was required to submit NOCS reports for both the Meriden and

Bridgeport Facilities to EPA in 2015.
59.

Defendant failed to submit NOCS reports to EPA for either the Meriden or the

Bridgeport Facility.
60.

Accordingly, Defendant has violated 40 C.F.R. §§ 63.697(a)(1) and 639(h).
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2. CAA Title V Violations
Third Claim for Relief —Failure to AnAly for a Title V Permit
61.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 60 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
62.

Section 503(c) of the CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7661b(c), provides that any source

required to have a Title V permit must apply for such permit no later than 12 months after the
source becomes subject to an EPA-approved Title V permit program.
63.

Defendant's Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities became subject to CAA Subpart

DD,a regulation promulgated under Section 112 ofthe CAA,by no later than April 1, 2015, and
remained subject to CAA Subpart DD until August 31, 2018.
64.

Thus, by no later than April 1, 2016, Defendant was required to apply to

Connecticut air permitting authorities for Title V operating permits for the Meriden and
Bridgeport Facilities.
65.

Defendant failed to apply for a Title V operating permit for either the Meriden or

Bridgeport Facility.
66.

Accordingly, Defendant has violated Section 503(c) ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. §

7661b(c), and 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(a)(1).
Fourth Claim for Relief —Operating without a Title V Permit
67.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 66 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth.herein.
68.

Section 502(a) ofthe CAA,42 U.S.C. § 7661a(a), provides, among other things,

that after the effective date of an EPA-approved Title V permit program, no source subject to a
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standard or regulation promulgated under Section 112 of the CAA can lawfully operate except in
compliance with a Title V operating permit issued by the relevant permitting authority.
69.

Defendant's Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities were subject to CAA Subpart DD,

a regulation promulgated under Section 112 ofthe CAA,from no later than April 1, 2015,to
August 31, 2018.
70.

From April 1, 2015, to August 31, 2018, Defendant operated the Meriden and

Bridgeport Facilities without having and without complying with Title V permits issued by CT
DEEP.
71.

Accordingly, Defendant has violated Section 502(a) of the CAA,42 U.S.C. §

7661a(a), and 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b).
B. RCRA VIOLATIONS
72.

Defendant has operated and continues to operate the Meriden Facility under

Meriden's TSDF Permit. Meriden's TSDF Permit at Section 1(E)(1) requires that Defendant
comply "with all conditions ofthe Permit."
73.

Defendant has operated and continues to operate the Bridgeport Facility under

Bridgeport's TSDF Permit. Bridgeport's TSDF Permit at Section 1(e)(1) requires compliance
"with all conditions ofthe Permit."
74.

At all relevant times, Defendant has treated, stored, and disposed of"hazardous

wastes" at the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities as defined at Section 1004(5) of RCRA,42
U.S.C. § 6903(5),40 C.F.R. § 261.3, and RCSA § 22a 449(c) 101(a)(1), which incorporates 40
C.F.R. § 261.3 by reference. Further, at relevant times, Defendant has been a "generator" of
hazardous wastes at the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities as defined in 40 C.F.R. § 260.10 and

14

Case 3:18-cv-02031 Document 1 Filed 12/12/18 Page 15 of 37

RCSA §§ 22a 449(c) 100(b)(1) and (b)(2)(B), which incorporate by reference 40 C.F.R. §
260.10.
75.

Accordingly, as the owner and/or operator of the Meriden and Bridgeport

Facilities that generate, treat, store and dispose of hazardous wastes, Defendant is subject to
RCRA,the Facilities' TSDF permits, and the RCSA hazardous waste management regulations
set out at RCSA §§ 22a 449(c)-1 to 22a-449(c)-119, which incorporate by reference federal
RCRA regulations including RCRA Subparts AA,BB and CC.
1. RCRA Violations at the Meriden Facility
Fifth Claim for Relief: Failure to Provide Site Security
76.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 75 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
77.

Meriden's TSDF Permit at Section IV(D)requires Defendant to minimize the

possibility for the unauthorized entry of persons into the Meriden Facility, including controlling
entry at all times through gates or other entrances to the Facility.
78.

The Meriden Facility includes two outdoor areas, the Trailer Loading and

Unloading Dock Area("TDA")and the Trailer Staging Area("TSA"), which are designated in
Meriden's TSDF Permit as waste management areas. See Meriden's TSDF Permit, Sections
IV(A)(2)(c) and IV(A)(5). Both areas have metal fencing with gate access.
79.

During EPA's RCRA inspection ofthe Meriden Facility, EPA inspectors on

March 29, 2015, observed an open gate at the top of a ramp that allowed access to the TDA and
TSA, at a time which, on information and belief, was after the Facility had ceased operations for
the day. The EPA inspectors also observed tractor trailers, one of which was an open trailer,
parked in the TDA. When EPA inspectors returned to the Meriden Facility the next morning, the
gate was still open.
15
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80.

The above-described open gate allowed the unauthorized entry of persons to areas

ofthe Meriden Facility where hazardous and non-hazardous wastes were permitted to be stored,
and constituted a failure to control entry to the Facility.
81.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Section IV(D)of Meriden's TSDF Permit.

Sixth Claim for Relief: Hazardous Waste Storage at Unauthorized Locations
82.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 81 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
83.

Meriden's TSDF permit at Section II(A) authorizes Defendant "to manage wastes

and other materials ... in the(1) Container Storage Areas;(2) Loading and Unloading Areas;(3)
Tank Farm Area(Storage and Treatment);(4)Degrit System Area;(5)Truck-to-Truck Transfer
Area (Trailer Staging Area);(6)72-Hour Truck Parking Areas; and (7)Homeowner Waste Oil
Drop-Off Area."
84.

During EPA's RCRA inspection of the Meriden Facility, EPA inspectors on

March 30, 2015, observed one of Defendant's tractor trailers parked in the Central Connecticut
Tank Fabrication and Truck Repair("CCT")lot.
85.

The parked tractor trailer contained approximately 26 containers of hazardous

wastes(about 7,850 pounds)and 21 containers of non-hazardous wastes. The wastes in the truck
trailer included ignitable and flammable liquids, acids and hydroxides, spent solvents, spent
fuels, and solid heavy metal-contaminated waste.
86.

The CCT lot is not authorized for storing hazardous wastes by Meriden's TSDF

Permit.
87.

On March 30, 2015, Defendant was storing hazardous waste in a tractor trailer not

authorized for waste storage by Meriden's TSDF permit.
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88.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Meriden's TSDF Permit at Section II(A).

Seventh Claim for Relief: Failure to Report Hazardous Waste Release
89.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 88 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
90.

Meriden's TSDF Permit at Sections III(A)(16) -(17)requires Defendant to report

by telephone any spills or releases to the environment from the Facility to the federal National
Response Center and to CT DEEP's Emergency Response and Spill Prevention Division
("ERSPD")using a 24-hour hotline number or other designated telephone numbers. Within 15
days of providing the oral spill report to ERSPD,Defendant must also submit a written report to
CT DEEP's Waste Engineering and Enforcement Division("WEED")containing certain
specified information.
91.

Further, Section 10.11 of the Meriden Facility's Contingency Plan, which is

Attachment D to Meriden's TSDF Permit and is a part thereof, requires that all spills or material
releases be reported immediately to ERSPD at the hotline or alternative telephone number, and
provides in Figure 10.3 that for an "incidental" release, defined as "1 full tank/container or less
of product," Defendant should contain and clean up the release and notify CT DEEP of its
actions.
92.

On March 31, 2015, a Facility employee punctured a 55-gallon drum with a fork

lift in the Bay #1 area of the Meriden Facility. The punctured drum was labeled with EPA waste
codes D001 and F003, and upon information and belief, contained liquid-hazardous waste
consisting of mixed solvents containing xylene with a flash point of 120 degrees F. The spilled
hazardous waste traveled through the entire length ofthe bay and into the bay's basement level.
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93.

Defendant did not report the March 31, 2015 spill at the Meriden Facility to CT

DEEP either orally or in writing, as required by Meriden's TSDF Permit at Sections
III(A)(16) -(17) and Section 10.11 ofthe Meriden Facility's Contingency Plan.
94.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Meriden's TSDF Permit at Sections

III(A)(16) -(17) and the Permit's attached Contingency Plan.
Eighth Claim for Relief: Failure to Conduct Adequate Inspections
for Malfunctions or Deteriorating Conditions
95.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 94 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
96.

Meriden's TSDF permit contains various inspection requirements, including those

set out in Sections III(A)(24) and Section IV(E). Section III(A)(24) requires Defendant to
inspect the Meriden Facility in accordance with the Inspection Plan set out in Attachment C of
the Permit. Section IV(E) provides that, "[i]n addition to any other inspection,[sic] requirements
specified elsewhere" in the permit, Defendant must:(1) perform inspections of the facility in
accordance with the inspection schedule in Attachment C;(2)inspect the facility for
malfunctions and deteriorations, operator errors, and discharges, which may be causing or may
lead to hazardous waste releases to the environment or threats to human health;[and](3)remedy
any deterioration or malfunction of equipment or structure ... on a schedule which ensures that
the problem does not lead to an environmental or human health hazard ...."
97.

Pursuant to the above-cited Permit provisions and the Inspection Plan in

Attachment C ofthe Permit, Defendant was required to conduct weekly inspections of various
areas ofthe Meriden Facility, including various outdoor areas. Specifically, the Inspection Plan
contains "weekly inspection logs" for Bays 1-4, the outdoor areas of Bays 1 and 4, the Trailer
Staging and Dock Areas, and the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage Area. The inspection log contains
18
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a check offitem for cracks, spalling, uneven settlement, wear, deterioration, etc., for the
"base/foundation" of each of these areas. Defendant's weekly inspection log, dated March 27,
2015, checked off"acceptable" for the base/foundation in all ofthe above-listed Facility areas.
98.

At the time of Defendant's March 27, 2015, weekly inspection, there were

numerous cracks and graveled areas in the paved surface ofthe Duffy Avenue Yard Storage
Area. Upon information and belief, these cracks and graveled areas could have allowed spilled
or released hazardous waste at the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage Area to enter the environment,
including traveling into the ground and groundwater below, and could have caused
environmental and/or human health hazards.
99.

The cracks and graveled areas in the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage Area constituted

"deteriorations" that could lead to releases of hazardous wastes to the environment, causing
environmental and/or human health hazards.
100.

However, Defendant's March 27, 2015, weekly inspection log noted that the

base/foundation of the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage Yard was acceptable, and included no
additional observations or date/nature of repairs.
101.

Defendant failed to properly inspect the Meriden Facility for deteriorations that

could lead to hazardous waste releases and environmental/health hazards.
102.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Section IV(E)of Meriden's TSDF permit.

Ninth Claim for Relief: Failure to Maintain Tank Overflow Protection Equipment
103.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 102 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
104.

Meriden's TSDF Permit contains requirements regarding appropriate controls and

practices to prevent spills and overfills from the hazardous and non-hazardous waste storage
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tanks in the Meriden Facility's Tank Farm Area. Section III(B)(3)(b), which applies to the Tank
Farm Area, requires Defendant to "use appropriate controls and practices to prevent spills and
overflows from tank or containment systems. These include at a minimum:(i) Spill prevention
controls (e.g., check valves, dry disconnect couplings); and (ii) Overfill prevention controls (e.g.,
level sensing devices, automated feed cut-offs or bypass to a standby tank)." Further, Section
I(E)(5) ofthe Permit generally provides that Defendant "shall at all times properly operate and
maintain the permitted facility and all systems of storage and control(and related appurtenances)
installed or used by [Defendant] to achieve compliance with this Permit."
105.

At the time of EPA's RCRA inspection, there were two types of overfill

protection controls for the waste storage tanks located in the Meriden Facility's Tank Farm Area.
106.

At the time of EPA's RCRA inspection, neither of these two overfill control

systems for the waste storage tanks in the Tank Farm Area were working properly.
107.

Defendant failed to properly operate and maintain the Meriden Facility's control

systems, and failed to use appropriate overfill prevention controls to prevent the overfilling of
the Tank Farm Area's hazardous and non-hazardous waste storage tanks.
108.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Sections I(E)(5) and III(B)(3)(b) of Meriden's

TSDF Permit.
Tenth Claim for Relief: Failure to Obtain Tank Integrity Assessment
109.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 108 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
1 10.

Meriden's TSDF permit at Section III(B)(3)(d) requires that before using any new

tank systems or components referenced in the Permit, Defendant "shall submit and obtain for
[CT DEEP's] review and written approval a written assessment, reviewed and certified by an
independent, qualified registered professional engineer, in accordance with 40 C.F.R. 270.11(d)
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and 270.16(a), attesting that the tank system has sufficient structural integrity and is acceptable
for the storing of hazardous waste." In addition, RCSA § 22a-449(c)-110(a)(1) incorporates 40
C.F.R. Part 270, including 40 C.F.R. § 270.16, which requires a certified professional engineer's
assessment "as to the structural integrity and suitability for handling hazardous waste of each
tank system ...."
1 11.

Tank O-7 is an 8,000-gallon tank that, at relevant times, has received and

continues to receive overflow from numerous hazardous and non-hazardous waste tanks in the
Meriden Facility's Tank Farm Area. As a result, Defendant has needed to obtain and submit for
CT DEEP's approval a written tank integrity assessment, certified by a professional engineer,
attesting that Tank O-7 is acceptable for storing hazardous wastes.
112.

At relevant times, Defendant had no written, certified tank integrity assessment

for Tank O-7. In addition, at relevant times, Defendant failed to submit a certified tank integrity
assessment for Tank O-7 to CT DEEP.
1 13.

Accordingly, at relevant times, Defendant violated Meriden's TSDF Permit at

Section III(B)(3)(d), and RCSA § 22a-449(c)-110(a)(1), which incorporates 40 C.F.R. § 270.16.
Eleventh Claim for Relief: Failure to Comply with RCRA Subpart CC
Tank and Emission Control Standards
1 14.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 113 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
1 15.

Meriden's TSDF permit at Section IV(R)(2) requires Defendant to manage

hazardous wastes stored in tanks in accordance with RCRA Subpart CC,as specified in 40
C.F.R. § 264.1084, as modified by RCSA § 22a-449(c)-104(a)(2). Separately, RCSA §
22a-449(c)-104, which applies to Defendant as the owner and/or operator ofthe Meriden
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Facility, incorporates 40 C.F.R. Part 264, which includes RCRA Subpart CC, with certain
exceptions and revisions not relevant here. See RCSA §§ 22a-449(c)-104(a)(1) - (2).
1 16.

Defendant is subject to the applicable requirements of RCRA Subpart CC at the

Meriden Facility.
1 17.

RCRA Subpart CC contains air emission standards for hazardous waste storage

tanks and closed-vent systems and control devices at TSDFs. See, e.g., 40 C.F.R. §§ 264.1082
(general standards), 264.1084(tank standards), 264.1087(closed vent systems and control
devices) and 264.1088 (inspection and monitoring requirements).
1 18.

Tank O-7 at the Meriden Facility is an 8,000-gallon tank that receives overflow

from numerous hazardous and non-hazardous waste tanks in the Meriden Facility's Tank Farm
Area. Accordingly, it is a hazardous waste storage tank and Defendant must comply with
applicable RCRA Subpart CC requirements for Tank O-7.
1 19.

Air emissions from numerous tanks in Tank Farm Area(and emissions from other

tanks as well) are piped and vented through Tank O-7 to the Meriden Facility's regenerative
carbon adsorption air emission control system. Accordingly, Tank O-7 is part ofthe Meriden
Facility's RCRA Subpart CC closed-vent system and control device, and must comply with
applicable RCRA Subpart CC requirements for closed-vent systems. See 40 C.F.R. § 264.1087.
120.

In addition, the Meriden Facility contains a Degrit Tank System, which consists

of a concrete pit divided into three concrete chambers with a sheet metal cover. The Degrit Tank
System has a total holding capacity of about 3,465 gallons. At the time of EPA's RCRA and
CAA Inspections ofthe Meriden Facility, all bulk liquid hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
that entered the Facility were first pumped into the Degrit Tank System before being piped into
one ofthe waste storage tanks in the Tank Farm Area building. The Degrit Tank System was
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equipped with an open-ended duct to collect and vent air emissions from the Degrit Tank System
to the carbon adsorption control system.
121.

The Degrit Tank System constitutes one or more hazardous waste storage tanks

that must comply with applicable RCRA Subpart CC standards for hazardous waste tanks.
Further, Defendant must comply with applicable RCRA Subpart CC requirements for
closed-vent systems for the Degrit Tank System's air emissions collection and venting system.
122.

At relevant times, Defendant has not managed Tank O-7 as hazardous waste tank,

and as part of closed-vent system, under RCRA Subpart CC. In addition, at relevant times,
Defendant has not managed the Degrit Tank System as a hazardous waste storage tank, and has
not managed its air emissions collection system as part of a closed-vent system, under RCRA
Subpart CC. As a result, Defendant has failed to comply with RCRA Subpart CC's hazardous
waste tank and closed-vent system requirements for Tank O-7 and the Degrit Tank System.
123.

Accordingly, Defendant has violated Meriden's TSDF permit at Section IV(R)(2)

and RCSA § 22a-449(c)-104, which incorporates by reference RCRA Subpart CC.
Twelfth Claim for Relief: RCRA Subpart BB Leak Monitoring
124.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 123 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
125.

Meriden's TSDF Permit at Section IV(Q)requires that Defendant comply with

RCRA Subpart BB for equipment leaks from pumps, valves and other equipment that contain or
contact hazardous waste with a VOC content of at least 10% by weight, in accordance with
RCSA § 22a-449(a)-104. Separately, RCSA § 22a-449(a)-104, which applies to Defendant as
the owner andlor operator ofthe Meriden Facility, incorporates by reference all of 40 C.F.R. Part
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264,including RCRA Subpart BB, with certain exceptions and revisions not relevant here. See
RCSA §§ 22a-449(c)-104(a)(1)- (2).
126.

Accordingly, Defendant is subject to the applicable requirements of RCRA

Subpart BB at the Meriden Facility.
127.

RCRA Subpart BB requires periodic leak monitoring of various types of RCRA

Subpart BB-subject equipment. For example, pumps in light liquid service must be monitored
weekly by sight and monthly by portable VOC monitors, while valves in gas/vapor of light liquid
service must be monitored monthly by portable VOC monitors. See 40 C.F.R. §§
264.1052(a)(1)-(2)(pumps)and 40 C.F.R. § 264.1057(a)(valves).
128.

Tank O-7 at the Meriden Facility is a hazardous waste storage tank with

associated equipment subject to RCRA Subpart BB leak monitoring requirements.
129.

At relevant times, Defendant failed to manage Tank O-7 as a hazardous waste

tank with associated equipment subject to RCRA Subpart BB,and did not conduct required
RCRA Subpart BB leak monitoring ofthat equipment.
130.

Accordingly, at relevant times, Defendant violated Meriden TSDF's Permit at

Section IV(Q)and RCSA § 22a-449(a)-104, which incorporates by reference RCRA Subpart
BB,including the leak monitoring requirements at 40 C.F.R. §§ 264.1052 - 264.1058.
Thirteenth Claim for Relief: Minimizing Threats from Hazardous Waste Releases
131.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 130 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
132.

Section IV(H)(1)of Meriden's TSDF Permit requires that Defendant "maintain

and operate the facility so as to prevent fire, explosion, or any unplanned, sudden or non-sudden,
release of waste or waste constituents)thereof to air, soil, surface water or ground water which
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could threaten human health or the environment, as required by 40 CFR 264.31." Separately,
RCSA § 22a-449(a)-104, which applies to Defendant as the owner and/or operator ofthe
Meriden Facility, incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. § 264.31, which requires facilities to be
"designed, constructed, maintained, and operated to minimize the possibility of a fire, explosion,
or any unplanned sudden or non-sudden release of hazardous waste or hazardous waste
constituent to air, soil, or surface water which could threaten human health or the environmerit."
133.

On March 31, 2015, during EPA's RCRA inspection, a Facility employee

punctured a 55-gallon drum with a fork lift in the Bay #1 area ofthe Meriden Facility. The
punctured drum was labeled with EPA waste codes D001 and F003, and upon information and
belief, contained liquid hazardous waste consisting of mixed solvents containing xylene with a
flash point of 120 degrees.
134.

The Meriden Facility's Contingency Plan, incorporated into Meriden's TSDF

Permit, requires that there were to be five 40-pound bags of industrial absorbent located at Bay
#1 for spill control. See Contingency Plan, p.10-34.
135.

At the time of the March 31, 2015 spill, there were only two bags of absorbent at

the Bay #1 location. Consequently, a forklift driver who was responding to the spill had to leave
the area to find other bags of absorbent. The spilled hazardous waste travelled down the entire
length of Bay #1 and into the basement level.
136.

In addition, at the time of EPA's RCRA inspection there were numerous cracks

and graveled areas in the paved surface of the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage Area. One such
graveled area was directly adjacent to a ramp that connected the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage
Area with the raised Trailer Loading and Unloading Dock Area. There were also cracks and
graveled areas in the Duffy Avenue Yard, an outdoor parking area contiguous to the Duffy
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Avenue Yard Storage Area. At the time of EPA's RCRA inspection, hazardous waste-placarded
trucks were parked over graveled and cracked areas in the Duffy Avenue Yard. Moreover,there
were numerous cracks in the truck siding/parking area near the Meriden Facility's receiving
office where hazardous waste-containing trucks were parked for initial processing.
137.

Upon information and belief, if liquid hazardous wastes were spilled or released

into the Duffy Avenue Yard Storage Area,the Duffy Avenue Yard, or the truck siding/parking
area near the Meriden Facility's receiving office, the wastes could travel through the cracks and
graveled areas into the ground and groundwater below.
138.

Defendant's failure to have sufficient adsorbent near the site of the March 31,

2015, hazardous waste spill at the Meriden Facility resulted in the spill spreading over a wider
area, thereby increasing the risks to human health and the environment from the spill. In
addition, Defendant's failure to adequately pave areas ofthe Meriden Facility where hazardous
waste-containing trucks were parked and/or unloaded increased the risk that wastes spilled from
these trucks could enter the soil or groundwater and created increased environmental and human
health risks.
139.

Accordingly, at relevant times, Defendant violated Section IV(H)(1)of Meriden's

TSDF Permit and RCSA § 22a-449(a)-104, which incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. § 264.31.
Fourteenth Claim for Relief: Failure to Maintain Uq-To-Date Contingency Plan
140.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 139 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
141.

Section IV(I)(2) of Meriden's TSDF Permit requires that Defendant "maintain on-

site, a Contingency Plan ... which describes the actions facility personnel shall take in response
to an emergency event which threatens or may potentially threaten human health or the
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environment." Section IV(I)(2)(a) - (fl of Meriden's TSDF Permit contains certain minimum
requirements for the Contingency Plan, including an up-to-date list of the names, addresses, and
phone numbers of all persons qualified to act as emergency coordinator, and an up-to-date list of
emergency equipment at the facility (including spill control equipment), with the location and a
physical description of each item on the list. See Meriden's TSDF permit at Section
IV(I)(2)(b) - (c). Further, Defendant is required to immediately amend the Contingency Plan if,
among other things, a modification to the list of emergency coordinators or emergency
equipment is necessary. See Meriden's TSDF permit at Section IV(I)(4)(a).
142.

At relevant times, Defendant's Contingency Plan at the Meriden Facility did not

contain an up-to-date list of emergency coordinators, and did not accurately list the emergency
equipment located at the Facility.
143.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Sections IV(I)(2) and IV(I)(4) of Meriden's

TSDF Permit.
Fifteenth Claim for Relief: Failure to Conduct Hazardous Waste Personnel Training
144.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 143 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
145.

Section IV(F)(1) of Meriden's TSDF Permit requires Defendant to conduct

personnel training as required by 40 C.F.R. § 264.16, and as outlined in the Permit's Personnel
Training Plan (Permit Attachment B). Defendant must train all Facility personnel to ensure that
the performance oftheir duties keeps the Meriden Facility in compliance with its TSDF permit.
146.

In addition, Section IV(F)(3) of Meriden's TSDF Permit requires that new

personnel must successfully complete the training program required by the permit within six (6)
months after the effective date oftheir employment or assignment to the Facility's waste

27

Case 3:18-cv-02031 Document 1 Filed 12/12/18 Page 28 of 37

management areas or to a new position in the waste management areas, whichever is sooner.
Section IV(F)(4) of Meriden's TSDF Permit requires Defendant to ensure that, each yeax, all
Facility personnel receive and successfully complete an annual review ofthe Personnel Training
Plan.
147.

At relevant times, at least four Meriden employees were subject to the

requirements specified in Paragraphs 145 and 146 above, but had not received, or had not timely
received, hazardous waste training in accordance with Meriden's TSDF Permit at Section IV(F)
and with the Permit's attached Personnel Training Plan.
148.

Accordingly, at relevant times, Defendant violated Section IV(F)of Meriden's

TSDF Permit.
Sixteenth Claim for Relief: Quality Assurance/Quality Control
Protocols or Plans for Laboratory Operations
149.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 148 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
150.

Section IV(C)(1) of Meriden's TSDF Permit requires Defendant to follow the

procedures described in the Permit's Waste Analysis Plan (Permit Attachment A). Section 1(j)
ofthe Waste Analysis Plan requires Defendant to "maintain a protocol or a quality
assurance/quality control laboratory analysis plan for the on-site analysis of wastes."
151.

At the time of EPA's RCRA Inspection, Defendant had no protocol or quality

assurance/quality control("QA/QC")laboratory analysis plan for the on-site analysis of waste at
the Meriden Facility. Defendant subsequently provided laboratory standard operating
procedures to EPA dated in June and September 2015.
152.

During and after EPA's RCRA Inspection, Defendant failed to maintain a

required protocol or QA/QC plan for on-site waste analysis.
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153.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Section IV(C)(1) of Meriden's TSDF Permit,

and the Permit's attached Waste Analysis Plan at Section 1(j).
2. RCRA Violations at the Bridgeport Facility
Seventeenth Claim for Relief: Hazardous Waste Storage at Unauthorized Locations
154.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 153 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
155.

Bridgeport's TSDF permit at Section II(A) authorizes Defendant to manage

wastes only in specified areas at the Facility.
156.

During CT DEEP's RCRA inspections of the BridgeportFacility, state inspectors

observed approximately 30 totes which, upon information and belief, contained hazardous waste
stored in an area behind the former oil filter shredder area, adjacent to the secondary containment
system serving Tanks T-5 through T-11. This area was not authorized for hazardous waste
storage in Bridgeport's TSDF permit.
157.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Section II(A) of Bridgeport's TSDF Permit.

Eighteenth Claim for Relief: Failure to Report Hazardous Waste Release
158.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 157 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
159.

Bridgeport's TSDF Permit at Sections III(A)(15)-(16)requires Defendant to

report by telephone any spills or releases to the environment from the Facility to the federal
National Response Center and to the CT DEEP's ERSPD using a 24-hour hotline number or
other designated telephone numbers. Within 15 days of providing the oral spill report to
ERSPD,Defendant must submit a written report to the CT DEEP's WEED.
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160.

Further, the Bridgeport Facility's Contingency Plan (Permit Attachment D),

requires in Section 10.11 that all spills or material releases must be reported immediately to
ERSPD at the hotline or alternative telephone number, and provides in Figure 10.3 that for ari
"incidental" release, defined as "1 full tank/container or less of product," Defendant should
contain and clean up the release and notify CT DEEP of its actions.
161.

On August 27, 2015, during part of CT DEEP's RCRA inspections ofthe

Bridgeport Facility, a state inspector observed approximately four inches of clear liquid, with an
approximately one-inch thick blanket of oil, accumulating in the containment vault serving
hazardous waste storage Tanks T-1 and T-2. Upon information and belief, the release occurred
on or about August 25, 2015, when a steam line overheated hazardous waste stored in Tank T-1,
causing the waste to overflow from the tank.
162.

Defendant did not report the above-described hazardous waste release at the

Bridgeport Facility to CT DEEP either orally or in writing.
163.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Bridgeport's TSDF Permit at Sections

III(A)(15) -(16) and the Permit's attached Contingency Plan.
Nineteenth Claim for Relief: Failure to Document Inspections
164.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 163 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
165.

Bridgeport's TSDF permit at Sections III(A)(23) and (24)require Defendant to

inspect the Bridgeport Facility in accordance with the Inspection Plan set out in Attachment C of
the Permit, and record inspections in an inspection log. Section IV(E)ofthe Permit provides
that, "[i]n addition to any other inspection,[sic] requirements specified elsewhere" in the Permit,
Defendant must perform inspections of the Facility in accordance with the incorporated
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Inspection schedule, and inspect the Facility for malfunctions and deteriorations, operator errors,
and discharges, which may be causing or may lead to hazardous waste releases to the
environment or threats to human health. Section IV(E)(4) ofthe Permit requires that Defendant
maintain records of inspections at the Facility at all times for at least three years from the
inspection date.
166.

During CT DEEP's RCRA inspections ofthe Bridgeport Facility, there were

approximately 30 totes of hazardous waste stored in an area behind the former oil filter shredder
area, adjacent to the secondary containment system serving Tanks T-5 through T-11. Upon
information and belief, some ofthese totes may have been in this area since on or before July 2,
2015.
167.

At the time of CT DEEP's RCRA inspections in August and September 2015,

Defendant had no records of any inspections regarding the hazardous wastes stored in the
above-described area.
168.

Defendant failed to maintain inspection records at the Bridgeport Facility.

169.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Section IV(E)of Bridgeport's TSDF Permit.
Twentieth Claim for Relief: Incomplete Integrity Assessments for
Hazardous Waste Tanks

170.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 169 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
171.

Bridgeport's TSDF Permit at Section III(B)(iii), which contains operating

requirements for the Bridgeport Facility's outside Tank Farm Area, requires that Defendant
"obtain and submit to CT DEEP a written assessment, reviewed and certified by an independent,
qualified registered professional engineer, in accordance with 40 CFR 270.16(a), attesting that
the tank system has sufficient structural integrity and is acceptable for the storing of hazardous
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waste." See Bridgeport's TSDF permit at Section III(B)(iii)(3). The Bridgeport Facility's TSDF
Permit also requires that all new tanks and ancillary equipment be tested for tightness prior to
being covered, enclosed, or placed into use. See Bridgeport's TSDF Permit at Section
III(B)(iii)(5). In addition, RCSA § 22a-449(c)-110(a)(1) incorporates 40 C.F.R. Part 270,
including 40 C.F.R. § 270.16, which requires a certified professional engineer's assessment "as
to the structural integrity and suitability for handling hazardous waste of each tank system ...."
172.

Sometime in 2014, Defendant replaced the Bridgeport Facility's waste storage

tanks T-1 through T-4 in the Tank Farm Area with new tanks of the same capacity. Upon
information and belief, it was not until January 2018 that Defendant provided to CT DEEP a tank
inspection certification report from a registered professional engineer certifying the structural
integrity ofthe new Tanks T-1 through T-4.
173.

Accordingly, at relevant times, Defendant violated Section III(B)(iii)(3) of

Bridgeport's TSDF Permit, and RCSA § 22a-449(c)-110(a)(1), which incorporates 40 C.F.R.
270.16.
Twenty-First Claim for Relief: Failure to Document
Claimed RCRA Subpart BB Exemptions
174.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 173 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
175.

Bridgeport's TSDF Permit at Section III(B)(iii)(16) requires Defendant to

"manage all hazardous waste placed in a tank in accordance with 40 CFR 264.200 and the
applicable requirements of subparts AA,BB and CC of40 CFR 264." In addition, RCSA §
22a-449(c)-104, which applies to Defendant as the owner and/or operator ofthe Bridgeport
Facility, incorporates by reference 40 C.F.R. Part 264, including RCRA Subpart BB, with certain
exceptions and revisions not relevant here. See RCRA § 22a-449(c)-104(a)(1) and (2).
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176.

RCRA Subpart BB at 40 C.F.R. §§ 264.1064(k)(2) -(3)provides that specified

information must be recorded in the facility operating record for use in determining exemptions
to RCRA Subpart BB. Specifically, the operating record must contain "[a] statement listing the
hazardous waste influent to and effluent from each hazardous waste management unit subject to
the requirements in §§ 264.1052 through 264.1060 and an analysis determining whether these
hazardous wastes are heavy liquids." The record must include an up-to-date analysis and the
supporting information and data used to determine whether or not equipment is subject to the
requirements in 40 C.F.R. §§ 264.1052 through 264.1060.
177.

Table II-2 in Bridgeport's TSDF Permit identifies Tanks T-1, T-2, and T-3 as

containing "hazardous and non-RCRA hazardous wastewater," and identifies Tank T-4 as
containing "hazardous wastewater." The Bridgeport Facility's Inspection Plan (Permit
Attachment C)provides that Tanks 1, 2, 3, and 4 are in heavy liquid service and are therefore not
a part ofthe RCRA Subpart BB monthly monitoring program. From not later than Apri12015 to
sometime in 2018, Defendant did not record or maintain in the Bridgeport Facility's operating
record any statements, analyses or supporting information regarding Defendant's claimed RCRA
Subpart BB heavy liquid service exemption for Tanks T-1 through T-4.
178.

In 2018, Defendant ceased characterizing Tanks T-1 through T-4 as having heavy

liquid service exemptions under RCRA Subpart BB.
179.

At relevant times, Defendant failed to record or maintain in the Bridgeport

Facility's operating record the statements, analyses and information required to support its
claimed RCRA Subpart BB exemptions for Tanks T-1 through T-4.
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180.

Accordingly, at relevant times, Defendant violated Bridgeport's TSDF permit at

Section III(B)(iii)(16), and RCSA § 22a-449(c)-104, which incorporates by reference 40 C.F,R.
§§ 264.1064(k)(2) - (3).
Twenty-Second Claim for Relief: Failure to Maintain
Required RCRA Subpart BB Records
181.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 180 of this Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
182.

Section IV(R)(2)(c) of Bridgeport's TSDF Permit requires Defendant to maintain,

in the Bridgeport Facility's operating record, a record of air emissions control equipment
monitoring activities, including, among other things, tank identification numbers (for monthly
required RCRA Subpart BB monitoring), the dates of Subpart BB tagged equipment inspections,
and descriptions of defects and corrective actions taken to repair defects.
183.

At the time of CT DEEP's RCRA Inspection, Defendant had no air emission

monitoring records of monthly RCRA Subpart BB inspections for July 2015. Defendant has
never provided such records for July 2015 to either CT DEEP or to EPA.
184.

Accordingly, Defendant violated Section IV(R)(2)(c) of Bridgeport's TSDF

permit.
Twenty-Third Claim for Relief: .Failure to Maintain Up-To-Date Contingency Plan
185.

Plaintiff realleges and incorporates Paragraphs 1 through 184 ofthis Complaint as

iffully set forth herein.
186.

Section IV(I)(2) of Bridgeport's TSDF Permit requires that Defendant "maintain

on-site, a Contingency Plan ... which describes the actions facility personnel shall take in
response to an emergency event which threatens or may potentially threaten human health or the
environment." Section IV(I)(2)(b) of the Permit requires that Defendant list in the Contingency
34
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Plan "the names, addresses, and phone numbers (office, home and cellular as applicable) of all
persons qualified to act as emergency coordinator, which list shall be kept up to date." Sections
IV(I)(4)(a) and (a)(iii) of the Permit require Defendant to "immediately amend the Contingericy
Plan ... if[a] modification to the list of emergency coordinators is necessary."
187.

At the time of CT DEEP's inspection ofthe Bridgeport Facility, the Contingency

Plan did not have an up-to-date list of emergency coordinators.
188.

Accordingly, Defendant failed to maintain an up-to-date Contingency Plan at the

Bridgeport Facility, in violation of Sections IV(I)(2) and IV(I)(4) of Bridgeport's TSDF Permit.
III. PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE,Plaintiff, the United States of America, respectfully requests that this
Court:
1. Require Defendant to comply with the CAA and all applicable regulations and
permits issued under the CAA;
2. Require Defendant to take all measures necessary to comply with applicable
provisions of RCRA Subparts AA,BB and CC at the Meriden and Bridgeport Facilities;
3. Require Defendant to take all measures necessary to comply with the Meriden and
Bridgeport Facilities' TSDF Permits;
4. Assess Defendant civil penalties of up to $37,500 per day for each violation ofthe
CAA and/or RCRA,or any federal or authorized state regulations or permits issued under the
CAA or RCRA,occurring between January 13, 2009 and November 2, 2015, and assess
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penalties of up to the current statutory maximum per day for each such violation thereafter based
on the most recent annual penalty inflation adjustment issued under CPIAA and its implementing
regulations;
5. Award the United States all costs and disbursements of this action; and
6. Grant such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
Respectfully Submitted,
JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK
Assistant Attorney General
Environment and Natural Resources Division
U.S. Department of Justice

Dated:
BRIAN G. DONOHUE
Senior Attorney
U.S. Department of Justice
Environment and Natural Resources Division
Environmental Enforcement Section
P.O. Box 7611
Washington, D.C. 20044-7611
Office:(202)514-5413
Fax:(202)616-2427

DEIRDRE M. DALY
United States Attorney
District of Connecticut
NDIDI MOSES
Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney's Office
District of Connecticut
450 Main Street
Hartford, CT 06103
(203)696-3048
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OF COUNSEL:
STEVEN J. VIGGIANI
Senior Enforcement Counsel
Office of Environmental Stewardship
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
Region 1
5 Post Office Square, Suite 100
Boston, MA 02109-3912
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